## **RECEIVED**

## 01-04-2018

# STATE OF WISCONSIN

## COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT 4 OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2017AP002243-CR Grant County Circuit Court Case No. 2017CM000157

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

CHAD DAVID KNAUER,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR GRANT COUNTY, THE HONORABLE CRAIG R. DAY, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

Anthony J. Pozorski, Sr. Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1014070 Grant County District Attorney's Office 130 West Maple Street Lancaster, Wisconsin 53813 (608) 723-4237

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether a law enforcement officer telling a suspect that if stolen property was at his aunt and uncle's place, they would be arrested for possession of stolen property, rendered the defendant's confession involuntary.

Trial Court's Decision - Yes.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The briefs of the parties can fully present and meet the issues on appeal.

#### STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Publication is not appropriate. While the facts are significantly different from that in published opinions, the factual situation is of the type that often occurs and the issue involves no more than an application of well settled rules to the types of facts that occurred in this case.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On 6/22/2017 the State filed a criminal complaint charging the defendant with misdemeanor theft. (R. 1, pp. 1-2; App. 1-2). On 9/20/2017 the defendant filed a Motion to Suppress the defendant's statement to police. (R. 11, pp. 1-3). On 10/02/2017, the Court conducted an

evidentiary hearing on the Motion to Suppress. (R. 32; App. 17-42). On 10/10/2017 the Trial Court rendered an oral ruling suppressing the statement. (R. 33, pp. 2-15; App. 43-56). The Trial Court subsequently issued a written order. (R. 27; App. 57). The State appeals.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On or about 4/06/2017, a landscaping trailer was stolen from Reddy Ag in the Township of Liberty (Stitzer area)in Grant County, Wisconsin. (R. 1, p. 1-2; App. 1-2). Law enforcement officers in Lafayette County received tips that the defendant was involved in burglaries and thefts. (R.32, p. 9; App. 23). Law enforcement had also received information that some of the property was being stored at the defendant's aunt and uncle's place in Illinois. (R. 18, p. 34; App. 3). Law enforcement officers found property at the defendant's residence that they believed to be stolen. (R. 18, pp. 3-5).

On 5/23/2017 at about 11:00 p.m., Lafayette County

Detective Sergeant Jerrod Cook and Shullsburg Chief of

Police Joshua Jerry interviewed the defendant. (R.18; R.

32, pp. 3-13; App. 17-27). The defendant was removed from

a jail cell and brought to an open area where law

enforcement officers usually work on their reports. (R.32,

p. 5; App. 19). The officers interviewed the defendant for a little more than an hour. (R. 33, p. 8; App. 49). The officers administered the *Miranda* warnings and the defendant waived his right to remain silent. (R. 33, p. 9; App. 50). The officers did not apply any physical pressure upon the defendant. (R. 33, p. 9; App. 50). The officers, however, applied some psychological pressure. (R. 33, p. 9; App. 50).

The defendant is not a youngster. He was 32 years old at the time of the interview. (R. 33, p. 7; App. 48). The defendant is not an unintelligent fellow. (R. 33, p. 8; App. 49). The defendant went to eleventh grade in high school, obtained a GED and subsequently went to college for two years. (R. 32, p. 14; App. 28). He has no physical or psychological disabilities. (R. 33, p. 8; App. 49).

The defendant is a hardened criminal who specializes in thievery. (R. 19). He has been convicted of 14 crimes, including eight (8) crimes involving or relating to theft. (R. 19).

During the interview the defendant denied being involved in any thefts. (R. 18, pp. 2-3). At one point law enforcement advised the defendant that if a person is lying then the judges are through with that person. (R. 18, p. 12). The defendant made some admissions regarding the

stolen property at his residence. (R. 18, p. 12). defendant, however, denied having stolen property at the property of his aunt and uncle in Illinois. (R. 18, pp. 30-31). Law enforcement then advised or threatened the defendant, under the understanding that the defendant did not have any stolen property at his aunt and uncle's place, that if stolen property was then found at his aunt and uncle's place they would be arrested for possessing stolen property. (R. 18, p. 31). Law enforcement encouraged the defendant not to lie and even indicated to the defendant it would be better to just say he didn't want to talk. (R. 18, p. 34; App. 3). After further discussion regarding stolen property, the defendant asked for a favor, to keep his aunt and uncle out of it because they were like his mom and dad. (R. 18, p. 34; App. 3). Law enforcement told the defendant that he was going to check on the property to make sure it wasn't stolen, but if it was stolen, then they would be in possession of stolen property. (R. 18, p. 34; App.3). defendant then made admissions regarding the landscaping trailer stolen from Reddy Ag in Grant County, Wisconsin. (R. 18, p. 35; App.4).

#### ARGUMENT

If stolen property was found at the residence of the defendant's aunt and uncle, law enforcement would have had

probable cause to arrest the aunt and uncle and therefore the threat to arrest them did not render the defendant's confession involuntary.

#### Standard of Review

In State v. Hindsley, 2000 WI App. 130,  $\P$  37, 237 Wis. 2d 358, 380, the Court stated,

In determining whether a statement voluntarily given, the inquiry is whether the statement was procured through coercive means or whether it was the product of improper pressures exercised by the police; and the totality of the circumstances surrounding the giving statement are examined. See State v. Clappes, 136 Wis. 2d 222, 236, 401 N.W.2d 759 (1987). We accept the trial court's findings of historical facts surrounding the giving of the statement unless they are clearly erroneous, and review de novo whether the historical facts as found by the trial court meet the constitutional standard of voluntariness.

#### Factors Relevant to Voluntariness

In McAdoo v. State, 65 Wis. 2d 596, 606, 223 N.W.2d 521 (1974), the Court stated,

The determination as to whether a confession is voluntary, rather than the result of coercion, must be made in light of the "totality of the circumstances." [Citations]. Whether a statement is voluntary under all the circumstances "... calls for a very careful balancing of the personal characteristics of the confessor with the pressures to which he was subjected in order to induce his statements." [Citations].

"... Bearing on the personal characteristics of the confessor, consideration should be given to his age...; his education and intelligence...;

his physical and emotional condition at the time of the interrogation...; and his prior experience with the police....

"Those factors which, on the other hand, must be looked at to determine the amount of police pressure used to induce the confession include the length of interrogation... and delay in arraignment...; the general conditions under interrogation took place...; extreme psychological or physical pressure...; possible inducements, methods and stratagems which were used by the police...; where the confessor was unlawfully arrested...; and, of course, whether the confessor was apprised of his right to counsel and his privilege against selfincrimination..." [Citations].

- 1. Based upon the defendants date of birth, the defendant was 32 years old at the time of the interrogation. (R. 18, p. 1).
- 2. The defendant went to high school to the eleventh grade, obtained a GED and had two years of college. (R. 32, p. 14; App. 28).
- 3. The defendant was not suffering from any cognitive disabilities and there was nothing extraordinary about his physical or emotional condition. (R. 33, p. 8; App. 49).
- 4. The defendant has a significant criminal history and therefore has had significant experience with the police. The defendant was convicted of eight (8) crimes involving a form of theft, two (2) crimes involving

- burglary, one (1) crime involving trespassing and one (1) crime involving criminal damage to property. (R. 19).
- 5. The interrogation lasted a little more than an hour, but less than an hour and a half. (R.33, p. 8; App. 49).
- 6. The interrogation took place at the Lafayette County Sheriff's Department in a room where law enforcement officers routinely write their reports. (R. 32, p. 5; App. 19).
- 7. The psychological pressure and strategy used by law enforcement involved a law enforcement officer advising or threatening the defendant that if stolen property was found at his aunt and uncle's place in Illinois, they would be arrested for possessing stolen property. (R. 32, p. 9; App. 23).
- 8. The Trial Court concluded that the threat to arrest the defendant's aunt and uncle was a game changer because it was an improper threat given the Trial Court's conclusion that law enforcement did not have probable cause to arrest the aunt and uncle. (R. 33, pp. 9-11; App. 50-52).
- 9. The defendant was advised of his right to remain silent consistent with the *Miranda* warnings. (R. 18, p. 2).

#### Threat to Arrest

The Trial Court properly considered the "totality of the circumstances." The game changer, however, for the Court was law enforcement's threat to arrest the defendant's aunt and uncle.

The threat to arrest the defendant's aunt and uncle should not be viewed as extreme psychological pressure so as to render the defendant's confession involuntary. In Nebraska v. Grimes, 23 Neb.App. 304, 316, 870 N.W.2d 162, 170 (Neb. Ct. App. 2015), the Court stated, "It is widely accepted that a threat by law enforcement to arrest an accused family member is not coercive if there is probable cause to arrest the family member."

#### Probable Cause to Arrest

The next question therefore is whether law enforcement would have had probable cause to arrest the aunt and uncle for being in possession of the stolen property.

In *Gautreaux v. State*, 52 Wis. 2d 489, 495, 190 N.W.2d 542 (1971), the Court stated,

In State v. Johnson, supra, we pointed out that while mere possession of stolen property raises no inference of guilt, the unexplained possession of recently stolen goods does raise an inference of greater or less weight depending upon the circumstances, that the possessor is guilty of theft and also burglary if the goods were stolen in a burglary.

In this case, the interview of the defendant was only about a month and a half after the theft of the trailer from the Stitzer area. Possession of property only a month and a half after it is taken should be viewed as recent possession.

It is also important to keep in mind that the Gautreaux ruling was a ruling relevant to a verdict and judgment of guilt. As the Alabama Court of Appeals stated in the Baker v. State, 461 So.2d 26, 28 (Ala. Ct. App. 1984), "Possession of recently stolen goods is a circumstance for the jury's consideration. It is for them to determine whether an accused explanation of possession of contraband is true."

The issue in this case, however, is probable cause, not guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. The Trial Court should not let the suspect determine whether an officer has probable cause to arrest. As the Court stated in Reasonover v. Wellborn, 195 F.Supp.2d 827, 831 (E.D. Texas, 2001), "A suspect cannot defeat the finding of probable cause to make an arrest by claiming not to know anything about the stolen property. If such were the case, why would any suspect ever be able to remember anything?"

The Court in *U.S. v. Funches*, 327 F.3d 582, 587 (7th Cir. 2003), stated, "Of course the mere existence of

innocent explanations does not necessarily negate probable cause."

Since the probable cause determination by an officer is not the same as a guilt determination by a jury, the law enforcement officer should not have to rule out innocent explanations before determining whether there is probable cause to arrest.

The defendant was denying any affiliation with any stolen property that might be located at the farm of his aunt and uncle in Illinois. If indeed there was stolen property at that location, it would have been reasonable for the officers to believe that the defendant's aunt and uncle were probably committing a crime by possessing recently stolen property.

In State v. Woods, 117 Wis.2d 701, 345 N.W.2d 457 (1984), the Court addressed the issue of probable cause to arrest when dealing with a person possessing stolen property. In Woods, the police received information that Mr. Woods tried to sell a chain saw to a nearby resident. The officers investigated and discovered that the saw had been stolen 17 months earlier. (Emphasis added). 117 Wis. 2d at 706-707. Mr. Woods cited the Gautreaux decision and argued that the officers did not have probable cause to take him into custody. Woods, 117 Wis. 2d at 709. The

Court in Woods defined the crimes of theft and receiving or concealing stolen property, noted that the officers learned that Mr. Woods tried to sell a chain saw, that the officers checked the serial number on the saw and determined that it matched the serial number of a chain saw stolen from a hardware store and stated,

Based on these undisputed facts, we conclude that officers of "reasonable caution" could have believed that Woods committed the crime of theft, contrary to sec. 943.20(1)(a), or the crime of receiving stolen property, contrary to sec. 943.34. The officers therefore had probable cause to take Woods into custody.

The Court in Woods apparently recognized the difference between probable cause to arrest and the holding in Gautreaux which dealt with the burden at trial. If the recency of the possession of the stolen property was an issue, 17 months was not too long to be stale or not recent. Law enforcement officers in this case had received information that there was stolen property at the residence of the defendant's aunt and uncle in Illinois. The defendant denied that there was any stolen property at his aunt and uncle's place. After the defendant denied any knowledge of any stolen property at his aunt and uncle's place, law enforcement told the defendant that if there was stolen property there, that his aunt and uncle would be arrested for possessing stolen property. Based upon Woods,

law enforcement would have had, probable cause to have the defendant's aunt and uncle arrested by law enforcement in Illinois.

#### CONCLUSION

Because law enforcement did have probable cause to arrest the aunt and uncle, the threat to do so was not improper. Because the threat was not improper, it was not an extreme form of psychological pressure that rendered the defendant's confession involuntary. The State respectfully requests the Court of Appeals to reverse the Trial Court's order suppressing the defendant's confession regarding the trailer stolen from Grant County.