# RECEIVED

02-05-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

Appeal No. 2017AP002243-CR Grant County Case No. 17 CM 157

v.

CHAD D. KNAUER,

Defendant-Respondent,

# ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER SUPPRESSING DEFENDANT'S CONFESSION ENTERED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR GRANT COUNTY, THE HONORABLE CRAIG R. DAY, PRESIDING

### **BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT CHAD D. KNAUER**

### **

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

The State in its brief notes, correctly, that police are not required to rule out innocent explanations in evaluating whether probable cause exists, citing <u>United States v. Funches</u>, 327 F.3d 582, 587 (7th Cir. 2003). That said, however, for the inference in favor of probable cause to be reasonable, and therefore in fact supportive of probable cause to believe that a person is in knowing possession of stolen property, it must be based on some facts in addition to mere possession of same. First, all of the Wisconsin cases noted above focus strongly on the *recency* of the theft of the property as a circumstance relevant to knowledge. This is quite sensible, as the longer the interval between a theft and discovery of the property stolen in the possession of another person (and thus, the greater the chance that the thief transferred the property to an innocent third party), the less likely it is that the person found with the property was the thief, or even someone who knew of the stolen character of the property. Second, the reasonableness of any given inference has been described in Wisconsin law as follows:

An elementary principle is that an inferred fact is a logical, factual conclusion drawn from basic facts or historical evidence. It is the probability that certain consequences can and do follow from basic events or conditions as dictated by logic and human experience. Building on this elementary principle is the principle that a reasonable inference is a conclusion arrived at by a process of reasoning. This conclusion must be a rational and logical deduction from facts admitted or established by the evidence when such facts are viewed in the light of common knowledge or common experience. Further, an inference *is not supposition or* 

### conjecture; it is a logical deduction from facts proven and guesswork cannot serve as a substitute.

**Belich v. Szymaszek**, 224 Wis. 2d 419, 425, 592 N.W.2d 254 (Ct. App. 1999) (internal citations omitted, emphasis added).

Where, as here, there are no facts at all other than the mere fact of non-recent possession of stolen property from which to infer the possessors' knowledge of the stolen character of the property, an inference of knowledge is necessarily unreasonable and thus cannot support probable cause. This is so because the rationale given by courts which have found probable cause to believe a person has stolen a given piece or property when they are found to be in possession of such property soon after the property was stolen is that it is reasonable to believe that because the thief would not have had time to transfer or otherwise dispose of the property, the contrary inference that the person does not know of the stolen character of the property is unreasonable. See, e.g., Ingalls, 4 N.W. at 792 (implying that the recency of the theft must be sufficiently close in time to discovery of possession of stolen goods to negate an inference that the possessor did not know of the stolen character of the property); see also State v. Davis, 965 P.2d 525, 538 n. 6 (Utah Ct. App. 1998) (In holding that the passage of a year between a theft and the discovery that the defendant was in possession of the stolen item

could not reasonably support an inference that the defendant knew the item was stolen, explaining that "[t]he time intervening between the theft and the router's discovery significantly undermines any inference that Davis's mere possession of the router suggests that he would have had a reasonable belief that it was probably stolen. The situation would be different if, for example, the router had been stolen from Middleton the day before its discovery in Davis's shed."). Accordingly, the State is clearly wrong when it argues that there was in fact probable cause to arrest Mr. Knauer's aunt and uncle for possession or retention of stolen property in violation of Wis. Stat. § 943.20(1)(a).

Courts addressing this question have, when finding that the inference was sufficient to allow a conviction, relied not just upon a short interval between a theft and the discovery of stolen property in a suspect's possession, but also on the presence of other circumstances that tend to negate any innocent inferences. In that regard, the State's reliance upon the facts in <u>Woods</u> to support its position that there would have been probable cause to arrest Mr. Knauer's aunt and uncle upon finding that they were in possession of stolen property which was stolen nearly two months previously without any other facts to indicate that the aunt and uncle knew that

the property at issue was stolen is misplaced, as  $\underline{Woods}$  involved additional facts beyond the mere possession of stolen property which tended to negate an inference of innocent possession.

In that case, the police knew, beyond the fact that the property had been stolen many months previously, that Woods had contacted an acquaintance he barely knew to try to sell a chainsaw worth \$134.00 to said acquaintance for the unreasonably low price of \$20.00, and also, that Woods' offer to sell the chainsaw was unsolicited by the acquaintance. Woods, 117 Wis.2d at 711. This is in stark contrast to the situation here, wherein the State relies upon the mere fact of possession of property which has in fact been stolen, which position, if accepted, would improperly eliminate the State's burden to prove knowledge of the stolen character of the property and thereby transform the crime of possession of stolen property into a crime of strict liability, contrary to the intent of the legislature in requiring such knowledge. See, e.g., United States v. Howard, 214 F.3d 361, 364 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 2000) ("The inference pressed by the government – possession of a stolen gun suffices to show knowledge that it was stolen – would essentially render the statute's knowledge requirement superfluous and expose individuals possessing stolen guns to strict liability, contrary to the statute's express language and history.").

As has been repeatedly noted in decisions regarding this

issue,

if the fact of possession stands alone, wholly unconnected with any other circumstances, its value or persuasive power is very slight, for the real criminal may have artfully placed the article in the possession or upon the premises of an innocent person, the better to conceal his own guilt; whether it be the instrument of homicide, burglary, or other crime, or the fruits of robbery or larceny; or it may have been thrown away by the felon in his flight and found by the possessor, or have been taken away from him in order to restore it to the true owner, or otherwise have come lawfully into his possession.

**Ingalls v. State**, 48 Wis. 647, 4 N.W. 785, 792 (1880); <u>see also</u> **State v. Johnson**, 11 Wis. 2d 130, 139, 104 N.W.2d 379 (1960) ("Mere possession of stolen property raises no inference of guilt, but Wisconsin from early times has followed the rule that unexplained possession of *recently* stolen goods raises an inference of greater or less weight, *depending upon the circumstances*[,] that the possessor is guilty of the theft[.]") (emphasis and brackets added).

Here, without any additional facts beyond the mere possession of stolen property which went missing from its rightful owner more than six weeks previously, there is no reasonable inference available which would give an ordinarily prudent person, acting rationally, probable cause to believe that the aunt and uncle knew that the trailer had been stolen. Hence, there would not have been sufficient probable cause to believe that the aunt and uncle committed the crimes of either knowing possession of stolen property or knowing retention of stolen property, and as such, the police threat to do so made to Mr. Knauer was improper and coercive, tipping the balance such that Mr. Knauer's confession was involuntarily given.

Finally, even if it could be said that the police would have had probable cause to arrest Mr. Knauer's aunt and uncle based solely on the fact that the aunt and uncle were in possession of property which was stolen nearly two months before from a location in a different state, the circuit court here found as a fact, which finding is not clearly erroneous, that the officers making the threat to arrest the aunt and uncle *did not believe that they would have had probable cause to make such an arrest*. (R.33:6-7, R.App. 59-60).

This is significant because in Wisconsin, while it is true that "[t]hreatening to obtain a search warrant does not vitiate consent if "the expressed intention to obtain a warrant is genuine ... and not merely a pretext to induce submission[,]"" <u>Artic</u>, 327 Wis.2d 392, ¶41 (brackets added), it is clearly also true that where the police threaten to arrest someone close to a defendant if the defendant does not confess where the police do not believe that they would have had probable cause to arrest the defendant's loved one, then such a threat

*is* "merely a pretext to induce submission" which would therefore "vitate consent . . . [because] the expressed intention to [arrest is not] genuine." **Id.** (brackets added).

In either event, the threat was improper and coercive, overbore Mr. Knauer's will to resist, and rendered his confession involuntarily given, and as such, the trial court was correct in ruling that Mr. Knauer's confession was involuntary and therefore inadmissible for any purpose at Mr. Knauer's trial. <u>See State v.</u> **Hoppe**, 2003 WI 43, ¶36, 261 Wis. 2d 294, 661 N.W.2d 407.

II. THE STATE HAS ABANDONED, WAIVED, OR FORFEITED ALL OTHER POTENTIAL ISSUES, BUT IN THE EVENT THIS COURT CHOOSES TO ADDRESS THE ABANDONED, WAIVED, OR FORFEITED ISSUES, IN LIGHT OF THE TOTALITY OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES, MR. **KNAUER'S** CONFESSION **INVOLUNTARY** WAS AND THEREFORE INADMISSIBLE FOR ANY PURPOSE AT TRIAL.

Although, as is noted above, the State has abandoned, waived, or forfeited on appeal any quibble it may have with the circuit court's ruling in the event that this court agrees with Mr. Knauer that the officers interrogating him would not have had probable cause to arrest his aunt and uncle at the time they threatened to do so, because the abandonment/waiver/forfeiture rule is not absolute but rather a rule of judicial administration, Mr. Knauer shall address the more general issue of the voluntariness of his confession here. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>Adler v. D & H Indus., Inc.</u>, 2005 WI App 43, ¶19, 279 Wis. 2d 472, 694 N.W.2d 480 ("The waiver rule is purely administrative and does not affect [this court's] power to address an issue not raised in the briefs if we so choose.") (brackets added). Regardless, here, examining the totality of the circumstances surrounding and leading to the confession, said confession cannot be said to have been voluntarily given, and therefore the circuit court's ruling must be affirmed.

When a defendant moves to suppress his confession on the ground that it was taken from him involuntarily, the State bears the burden to show by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant's confession was voluntary. <u>State v. Hoppe</u>, 2003 WI 43, ¶40, 261 Wis.2d 294, 661 N.W.2d 407. "A defendant's statements are voluntary if they are the product of a free and unconstrained will, reflecting deliberateness of choice, as opposed to the result of a conspicuously unequal confrontation in which the pressures brought to bear on the defendant by representatives of the State exceeded the defendant's ability to resist." <u>Id.</u> "The pertinent inquiry is whether the statements were coerced or the product of improper pressures exercised by the person or persons conducting the interrogation."

<u>Id.</u>, ¶37. "Coercive or improper police conduct is a necessary prerequisite for a finding of involuntariness." <u>Id.</u>

Courts reviewing whether a confession was voluntarily given apply a totality of the circumstances analysis, which "involves a balancing of the personal characteristics of the defendant against the pressures imposed upon the defendant by law enforcement officers." Id., ¶38. "The relevant personal characteristics of the defendant include the defendant's age, education and intelligence, physical and emotional condition, and prior experience with law enforcement." Id., ¶39. "The personal characteristics [of the defendant] are balanced against the police pressures and tactics which were used to induce the statements, such as: the length of the questioning, any delay in arraignment, the general conditions under which the statements took place, any excessive physical or psychological pressure brought to bear on the defendant, any inducements, threats, methods or strategies used by the police to compel a response, and whether the defendant was informed of the right to counsel and right against self-incrimination." Id. (brackets added).

Of particular importance here, when the police make an unfounded or feigned threat of harm or adverse consequences regarding someone close to the defendant if he does not confess, courts consider such a threat to be highly coercive. See, e.g., Phillips v. State, 29 Wis.2d 521, 530–31, 139 N.W.2d 41 (1966) ("We think the statement in reference to the girl friend was motivation more than coercion because the defendant in his testimony stated he considered it was threat more to her than to him. This threat is dangerously close to the threats disapproved in [various Supreme Court of the United States cases]." (citing Lynumn v. Illinois, 372 U.S. 528, 534, 83 S.Ct. 917, 9 L.Ed.2d 922 (1963) (unfounded threat that defendant would be disentitled to public assistance (ADC) and would lose custody of her child if she did not cooperate); Rogers v. **Richmond**, 365 U.S. 534, 541-45, 81 S.Ct. 735, 5 L.Ed.2d 760 (1961) (police threatened to take accused's wife into custody without a basis for doing so); and Haynes v. Washington, 373 U.S. 503, 514, 83 S.Ct. 1336, 10 L.Ed.2d 513 (1963) (police refusal to allow suspect to call his wife)); see also Bosket v. State, 55 Wis.2d 121, 124, 197 N.W.2d 767 (1972) (holding that threat to arrest ill and pregnant wife of defendant, if proved, would render confession involuntary, but affirming on the basis of the circuit court's determination that the officers' denials of making such threats was more credible).

This is particularly so where either (1) the threat is one to arrest a person close to the defendant made when there was not probable cause to do so and/or (2) the same threat is one made without a genuine intent to do so, but rather is made solely as a pretextual measure aimed at inducing a confession. See, e.g., State v. Kiekhefer, 212 Wis.2d 460, 473-74, 569 N.W.2d 316 (Ct. App. 1997) (stating that "Police may not threaten to obtain a search warrant when there are no grounds for a valid warrant, but [w]hen the expressed intention to obtain a warrant is genuine . . . and not merely a pretext to induce submission, it does not vitiate consent[,]" and holding that because the police threat to obtain a search warrant was not supported by probable cause to search, not only was the defendant's subsequent consent to search rendered involuntary, but so too were any of his subsequent statements) (internal citations and quotation marks omitted, first set of brackets and ellipsis in original); cf. State v. Artic, 2010 WI 83, ¶41, 327 Wis. 2d 392, 786 N.W.2d 430 ("Threatening to obtain a search warrant does not vitiate consent if "the expressed intention to obtain a warrant is genuine ... and not merely a pretext to induce submission."") (internal citations omitted, emphasis added, ellipsis in original). see also United States v. Bolin, 514 F.2d 554, 560 (7th Cir. 1975) ("In view of the fact that the defendant signed the consent form while undergoing custodial interrogation and only after he had been impliedly threatened that his girlfriend would be arrested if he did not sign, we hold that the consent was involuntary and therefore invalid.").

For purposes of this argument, Mr. Knauer will not reiterate the argument in section I above regarding the issue of whether the threat to arrest the aunt and uncle was unsupported by probable cause except to note that Mr. Knauer agrees with the trial court that this unfounded and improper threat is the most critical circumstance bearing on the (in)voluntariness of the defendant's confession. (R.33:9, R.App. 62) ("Any inducements, threats, methods, or strategy used by the police to compel a response and it's there where I think the scale tips.").

Regarding the personal characteristics of the defendant, the trial court made all of the following findings, as noted above in the statement of facts: (1) Mr. Knauer at the time of the interrogation was 32 years old, had education beyond high school, and was of at least average intelligence, (R.33:7-8, R.App. 60-61); (2) Mr. Knauer was "in a bit of a state about circumstances relating to a child named Maverick" who was either Mr. Knauer's child or at the least a child he had some interest in, but that there was "nothing extraordinary about his physical or emotional condition," (R.33:8, R.App. 61); (3) Mr. Knauer didn't want to be in jail, didn't want to be gone for a long time, and had the impression that he was perhaps going to be

gone for a long time, (R.33:8, R.App. 61); and (4) Mr. Knauer was "no stranger to contact with law enforcement." (R.33:8, R.App. 61).

Regarding the other side of the balance, leaving to one side for the moment the findings regarding the threat to arrest Mr. Knauer's aunt and uncle, the trial court found all of the following: (1) the interrogation itself took place over just under an hour and a half, and was therefore "not a lengthy interrogation," (R.33:8, R.App. 61); (2) there was no issue with respect to any delay in arraignment, (R.33:9, R.App. 62); (3) the interrogation took place in a jail while Mr. Knauer was in custody, (R.33:9, R.App. 62); (4) Mr. Knauer was advised of his constitutional rights prior to being interrogated, (R.33:9, R.App. 62); (4) there was no physical pressure brought to bear upon him during the interrogation. (R.33:9, R.App. 62); and (5) there was some psychological pressure brought to bear on Mr. Knauer regarding what a judge was going to do with him if he did not cooperate, regarding being able to see his son, regarding his girlfriend Megan, and regarding "how the co-actor Mr. Turpin was going to roll on him if he didn't roll on Mr. Turpin . . . ." (R.33:9, R.App. 62). The court at this point in its analysis did not believe that the balance had yet tipped in favor of finding Mr. Knauer's confession to be involuntary, (R.33:9, R.App. 62), and only concluded that his will to resist had been overborne by adding

the effect of the improper and baseless threat to arrest Mr. Knauer's aunt and uncle on Mr. Knauer's resistance to the calculus. (R.33:9, R.App. 62).

Under the relevant analysis, Mr. Knauer agrees that the court's ruling was in the main correct, with the exception that the court appears to have failed to give sufficient weight to the promises of leniency and implied threats of the opposite engaged in by the police leading up to the threat to arrest the aunt and uncle. Under some circumstances, police promises of leniency in exchange for cooperation or threats of harsher treatment absent cooperation (which is saying the same thing twice in different fashion) can render a confession involuntary. <u>See State v. Clappes</u>, 136 Wis. 2d 222, 239, 401 N.W.2d 759 (1987) (citing <u>Pontow v. State</u>, 58 Wis. 2d 135, 139, 205 N.W.2d 777 (1973) (noting that promises of leniency coupled with other coercive pressures can render a confession involuntary)).

This is particularly true where, as here, the promises of leniency are followed shortly thereafter with a baseless threat to arrest the defendant's parental figures made knowing that the threat would hit home particularly intensely with the defendant. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>United States v. Tingle</u>, 658 F.2d 1332, 1336-37 (9th Cir. 1981) (holding that combination of promises of leniency, threats of the opposite without cooperation, and threats of adverse consequences to the defendant's children in combination rendered confession involuntary); <u>see also United States v. Long</u>, 852 F.2d 975, 978 (7th Cir. 1988). ("leading the defendant to believe that he or she will receive lenient treatment when this is quite unlikely is improper.").

It is also significant that here, the promises of leniency in the event of cooperation and threats of harsher treatment in the event of noncooperation were followed not long afterwards by the threats to arrest the aunt and uncle. (R.18:6-7, 10-13, 29-34, R.App. 12-13, 16-19, 35-40). In addition, the threats to arrest the aunt and uncle were made multiple times and only after Mr. Knauer had assured the officers that no stolen property would be found at the aunt and uncle's residence. (R.18:29-34, R.App. 35-40). The timing of these events is significant because it signifies a purpose on the part of the officers to extract a confession regardless of Mr. Knauer's resistance to giving one and, this inference is strengthened because the threats came after Mr. Knauer had ceased cooperating and had in fact insisted that there would not be any stolen property on his aunt and uncle's land. (R.18:30-31, R.App. 36-37); see, e.g., Kiekhefer, 212 Wis. 2d at 472 ("The fact that Kiekhefer initially refused to consent to a search of his room also militates against a finding of voluntariness[]" regarding the second request for consent).

Accordingly, the confession was involuntary and thus is inadmissible in evidence for any purpose at the trial of this matter.

#### CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the circuit court was correct in ruling that at the time that the officers threatened to arrest Mr. Knauer's aunt and uncle in the event that they merely found stolen property being stored on the aunt and uncle's property, the officers would not have had probable cause to do so, and further, the officers subjectively *knew* they would not have been able to lawfully arrest the aunt and uncle for possession of stolen property without something more than the bare fact of possession more than six weeks after the actual theft of the property took place.

Accordingly, as the circuit court correctly ruled, the officers' threat to arrest the aunt and uncle, which immediately preceded and was the direct cause of Mr. Knauer's confession, was improper and coercive, and as a result, Mr. Knauer's confession was involuntary and therefore inadmissible for any purpose at the trial of this matter. Because the State has abandoned any other challenge to the circuit court's ruling, this court should affirm that ruling and remand for further proceedings not inconsistent with this court's opinion.

30

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